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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To: The Shareholders and Board of Directors of Brunswick Rail Limited
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Brunswick Rail Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively – the “Group”), which comprise the
consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements (the “consolidated financial
statements”), including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016, and its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “IESBA Code”)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the Russian Federation, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on the
assumption that the Group will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 2, the
Group is required to repay the US$600.000 thousand Notes in November 2017. The
Group’s current financial position, including equity deficit of US$230.281 thousand and total
assets of US$519.809 thousand as at 31 December 2016, as well as the Group’s inability to
generate sufficient cash flows, raise substantial doubt about its ability to repay the Notes
on maturity.
These events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate that a
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Management’s plans concerning these matters are also
discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial
statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this
uncertainty. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, a UK private company limited by guarantee (“DTTL”), its network of member firms, and their related entities. DTTL
and each of its member firms are legally separate and independent entities. DTTL (also referred to as “Deloitte Global”) does not provide services to clients. Please see www.deloitte.com/about
for a more detailed description of DTTL and its member firms.
© ZAO Deloitte & Touche CIS. All rights reserved.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section above, we have determined the matters
described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
Why the matter was determined to
be a key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in the audit

Reversal of impairment losses
on railcars
As described in the Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements,
the Group recorded a partial net
reversal of previously recognized
impairment losses in an amount of
US$44.711 thousand during 2016.
Reversal of impairment of railcars is
considered to be a risk area due to
the size of the railcars balance and
the significant judgement involved.
In particular, a critical judgement
made by Management is whether
there is an indication that an
impairment loss may no longer exist
or may have decreased. Other
judgmental aspects include the
assumptions used in calculating the
recoverable amount of equipment in
terms of future market lease rates,
operating expenses, exchange
rates, short-term and long-term
growth rates and the selection of
appropriate discount rates.

Deferred tax asset valuation
As described in the Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements,
the Group recognized a net deferred
tax asset (“DTA”) in an amount of
US$49.478 thousand as at
31 December 2016, out of which
US$45.180 thousand was
represented by tax losses carried
forward.
We focus on this area as the
assessment of the amount of DTA
recognized on taxable losses carried
forward involves judgements and
estimates in relation to future
taxable profits and the Group’s
capacity to utilize the available DTA.

We considered the appropriateness of the
methodology applied by the Management in
calculating the amount of the net reversal of
impairment losses.
We involved a valuation expert to assist us in
assessing the assumptions made and the inputs
used in the railcars’ impairment review model
(the “impairment model”).
We assessed the impairment model and
calculations by:


challenging the assumptions used in the
impairment model by comparing them to
economic data and industry forecasts, as well
as benchmarking inputs with comparable
organizations;



verifying the accuracy of the impairment
model;



performing a sensitivity analysis around the
key assumptions used in the impairment
model: foreign exchange rates, market lease
rates, long-term inflation and discount rates.

We concluded that the assumptions applied in the
impairment model were appropriate.

We considered the appropriateness of
Management’s assumptions based on the known
facts and circumstances, including the reliability of
the forecast models.
We evaluated the historical accuracy of
Management’s ability to forecast taxable profits
and the reasonableness of the forecast models
and, as a result of these procedures, we formed
our own view on the Group’s capacity to obtain
effective relief for tax losses and other temporary
differences over the forecast period.
We considered the appropriateness of the Group’s
disclosures (Note 19) in respect of the DTA.
We concluded that Management’s judgements in
relation to DTA recognition and the disclosures
made in the consolidated financial statements are
appropriate.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance
for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as Management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, Management is responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
Management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit performed in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:


Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by Management.



Conclude on the appropriateness of Management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.

Sergei Neklyudov
Engagement partner

16 March 2017
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Audit Firm: ZAO “Deloitte & Touche CIS”
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Moscow Registration Chamber on 30.10.1992.
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Primary State Registration Number: 1027700425444
Certificate of registration in the Unified State Register
№ 77 004840299 of 13.11.2002, issued by Moscow
Interdistrict Inspectorate of the Russian Ministry of Taxation
№ 39.
Member of Self-regulated organization of auditors “Russian
Union of auditors” (Association), ORNZ 11603080484.
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Consolidated income statement
Note
Revenue

7

Cost of services
Property tax
Staff compensation, excluding share-based compensation
Other operating expenses
Other operating income

8
10
9

Operating profit before depreciation and reversal of
impairment losses /(impairment losses) on railcars
Share-based compensation
Reversal of impairment losses /(impairment losses) on
railcars
Depreciation and amortisation

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of the
Company

(21.447)
(5.643)
(7.487)
(6.133)
1.498
___________

11
15
15

44.711
(21.013)
___________
103.535

12
16
12
23

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax (expense) /credit

119.049

79.837

Operating profit /(loss)
Finance costs
Expenses related to finance restructuring
Finance income
Revaluation gains of embedded derivatives on mezzanine
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses)

Year ended
Year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
US$000
US$000

13

(65.737)
(10.273)
4.503
123.867
___________

(22.078)
(8.327)
(8.817)
(15.989)
849
___________
79.172
(263)
(165.043)
(35.521)
___________
(121.655)
(68.644)
5.714
300
(173.990)
___________

155.895

(358.275)

(31.549)
___________

59.101
___________

124.346
===========

(299.174)
===========

The notes on pages 11 to 46 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Note

Profit/(loss) for the year

Year ended
31 December 2016
US$000
124.346
___________

Year ended
31 December 2015
US$000
(299.174)
___________

Other comprehensive (loss)/income:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Cash flow hedge (derivatives):
- Fair value losses on hedging reserve

22

- Transfers to the consolidated income statement

22

Currency translation differences

22

(51.129)
___________

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of tax

(51.129)
___________

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

73.217
===========

(414)
(1.097)
19.569
___________
18.058
___________
(281.116)
===========

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company

73.217
___________

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

73.217
===========

Items in the statement above are disclosed net of tax.

The notes on pages 11 to 46 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(281.116)
___________
(281.116)
===========

Brunswick Rail Limited and its subsidiary companies

Consolidated balance sheet
2016
US$000

2015
US$000

398.464
49.478
7.219
455.161

302.643
4.980
66.913
4.474
379.010

681
833
8.841
386
189
53.718
64.648
519.809

396
861
13.453
1.827
243
67.315
84.095
463.105

21
21
21
22

245.875
148.967
(12.199)
(244.528)
(368.396)
(230.281)

271.895
120.880
(12.199)
(193.399)
(489.049)
(301.872)

23
27

1.321
100.349
101.670

599.236
86.768
686.004

24

7.301
18
2.836
1.405
636.860
648.420
750.090
519.809

6.316
85
3.568
1.633
67.371
78.973
764.977
463.105

Note
Assets
Non-current assets
Equipment
Finance leases receivable
Deferred income tax asset
Other non-current assets
Current assets
VAT recoverable
Advances paid for rail tariffs
Trade and other receivables
Finance leases receivable
Current income tax prepayment
Cash and cash equivalents

15
17
19
16

18
17
20

Total assets

Equity deficit and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital
Share premium
Treasury shares
Other reserves
Accumulated losses
Total equity deficit
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Mezzanine
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current income tax liabilities
VAT payable
Other taxes payable
Borrowings

23

Total liabilities
Total equity deficit and liabilities

On 16 March 2017, the Board of Directors of Brunswick Rail Limited authorised these consolidated financial statements for
issue.

Martin Andersson, Director

Nicolas Pascault, Director

The notes on pages 11 to 46 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Attributable to owners of the Company

Share
capital/
share premium/
treasury shares
Note
US$000
Balance at 1 January 2015

372.481

Comprehensive loss:
Loss for the year

-

Total other comprehensive income

__________
__________

Total comprehensive loss
Transactions with owners
Issue of preference deferral share capital 1
Share-based payment
Unwinding the reallocation of loan granted to
former management

21
11
11, 21

Total contributions from and distributions
to owners of the Company
Balance at 31 December 2015/
1 January 2016
Comprehensive income:
Profit for the year

Total contributions from and distributions
to owners of the Company
Balance at 31 December 2016

18.058
_________
18.058
_________

Total
US$000

(183.203)

(22.436)

(299.174)

(299.174)

__________
(299.174)
__________

18.058
__________
(281.116)
__________

257

(6.672)
-

257

_________

__________

1.423
__________

8.095
__________

257
_________

(6.672)
__________

1.680
__________

380.576
__________

(193.399)
_________

(489.049)
__________

(301.872)
__________

-

Total comprehensive income

(211.714)

Accumulated
losses
US$000

1.423
__________

-

Total other comprehensive loss

Transactions with owners
Issue of preference deferral share capital1
Voluntary Conversion of Preference shares
and redeemable deferral share capital2
Issue of share capital on Voluntary
Conversion2
Transaction costs associated with Voluntary
Conversion of Preference shares
Amendment in reallocation of loan granted to
former management

6.672
-

Other
reserves
US$000

-

124.346

(51.129)

-

124.346
(51.129)

__________
-

_________
(51.129)

__________
124.346

__________
73.217

__________

_________

__________

__________

21

3.693

-

21

(63.390)

-

-

(63.390)

21

63.390

-

-

63.390

(1.771)

-

-

(1.771)

16, 21
21

145

(3.693)

-

-

-

145

__________

_________

__________

__________

2.067
__________
382.643
__________

_________
(244.528)
_________

(3.693)
__________
(368.396)
__________

(1.626)
__________
(230.281)
__________

1

The cumulative dividend of US$3.693 thousand declared on 30 June 2016 (2015: cumulative dividends of US$6.672 thousand) in respect of
outstanding Preference Shares and Deferral Shares, was deferred and capitalised through an issuance of 3,692,859 Deferral Shares (2015: 6,671,957
Deferral Shares) (Note 21).
2

Under the Voluntary Conversion, all of the Company’s Preference Shares (50,000,000 of par value US$1.00) and Deferral Shares (13,389,474 of par
value US$1.00) were converted into 33,677,205 ordinary shares of par value US$1.00 on 30 December 2016, representing 13.27% of the outstanding
ordinary shares post-conversion (Note 21).

The notes on pages 11 to 46 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Provision for bad debts
Profit on disposal of assets
(Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment losses on railcars
Finance income
Finance costs
Revaluation gains of embedded derivatives on mezzanine
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses
Share-based compensation
Expenses related to finance restructuring

155.895
15
9
15, 17
12
12

11
16

Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables
Finance leases receivable
Trade and other payables
Taxes payable other than income tax and VAT
VAT received/(paid), net
Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid
Net cash generated by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of other tangible assets
Purchase of wheel sets
VAT paid on purchase of wheel sets
Proceeds from disposal of assets
Interest received
Net cash from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of bank and other borrowings
Interest and commitment fees paid on borrowings
Finance restructuring costs1
Proceeds from sale and leaseback transaction, incl. VAT
Finance lease liabilities – principal repayments
VAT paid on finance lease liabilities
VAT on sale and leaseback transaction paid to the budget
Net cash used in financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Year ended
31 December 2016
US$000

23, 27
16
23

Year ended
31 December 2015
US$000
(358.275)

21.013
1.118
(423)
(44.711)
(4.503)
65.737
(123.867)
10.273
___________
80.532

35.521
9.207
(431)
165.043
(5.714)
68.644
(300)
173.990
263
___________
87.948

1.422
1.907
1.446
(557)
5.715
___________
90.465
(452)
___________
90.013
___________

(11.914)
1.781
3.449
1.618
(674)
___________
82.208
(563)
___________
81.645
___________

(21)
(5.429)
(977)
2.171
4.409
___________
153
___________

(40)
(3.327)
(444)
883
4.355
___________
1.427
___________

(56.727)
(49.634)
(14.131)
50.969
(25.219)
(6.024)
(9.128)
___________
(109.894)
___________
(19.728)
67.315
6.131
___________
53.718
===========

(6.350)
(52.467)
(3.930)
(1.023)
(302)
___________
(64.072)
___________
19.000
72.910
(24.595)
___________
67.315
===========

¹ Costs include amounts paid to legal and financial advisers; certain costs which were directly attributable to the Voluntary Conversion of
Preference shares were debited to equity.

The notes on pages 11 to 46 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
1

General information

Introduction
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared as at and for the year ended 31 December 2016
for Brunswick Rail Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
Country of incorporation
The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as a private limited liability company in accordance with the
provisions of the section 14 of the Companies Act 1981. Its registered office is at Wessex House, 2nd Floor,
45 Reid Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda.
Principal activities
The Group’s principal activity is leasing of railcars and transportation services in the “1520 gauge territory”
(the railway territory of the Russian Federation and CIS).
These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors (“the
Board”) on 16 March 2017.

2

Basis of preparation

(a)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policy below.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates and requires Management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 6.
(b)

Going concern

During 2016, the railcar leasing market environment has shown signs of improvement and stabilization.
Starting in the second quarter, the spot rates for gondolas improved from ca. 500 RUB/day to ca. 850 RUB/day
at the end of the year. The rates for certain specialized railcars, such as oil tanks and gas tanks, however,
remained severely depressed (Note 15).
The Group’s contracts denominated in USD represented 27 percent of total revenues during the year.
Management continues to expect USD-denominated revenues to decrease over time and the Group’s revenues
to be almost 100 percent denominated in RUB once its current USD-denominated contracts expire.
Clients’ payment discipline improved during the year and certain doubtful receivables were collected.
The Group generated a net profit for the year ended 31 December 2016 of approximately US$124.3 million
compared to a loss of approximately US$299.2 million suffered in 2015. Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended 31
December 2016 was approximately US$82.0 million, ca. 2 percent higher than 2015 (Note 30). The RUB
appreciated against the USD and net foreign exchange gains of ca. US$123.9 million were recognized during
2016, compared to net foreign exchange losses of US$174.0 million recognized in 2015.

11
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2
(b)

Basis of preparation (continued)
Going concern (continued)

Despite recent positive developments, the Group’s ability to sustain its current capital structure, including the
ability to maintain significant US dollar denominated debt at current levels and maturities, remains impaired. In
particular, the Group is not expected to generate sufficient cash flows to repay its US$600,000,000 6.5%
Guaranteed Notes (the “Notes”) at their November 2017 maturity.
Negotiations with an a hoc committee of holders of the Notes, which represents approximately 50% of the
Notes, took place in 2016 but no agreement was reached on the terms of a restructuring of the Notes; if the
Company is unable to reach agreement with the holders of the Notes for a restructuring, it will be required to
consider alternatives to a voluntary restructuring, including the option of initiating a liquidation process.
In February 2017, the Company was informed by representatives of Amalgam Rail Investment, Ltd.
(“Amalgam”), that Amalgam had received acceptances from shareholders of the Company holding more than
50% of the Company’s ordinary shares in respect of an offer made by Amalgam on 31 December 2016 for all of
the Company’s ordinary shares (the “Offer”). The Company understands that Amalgam intends to utilize the
compulsory acquisition provisions of the Company’s shareholders agreement dated 25 March 2014 (as
amended from time to time) to acquire 100% of the Company’s ordinary shares subject to the satisfaction or
waiver of all other conditions to the Offer. A sale of the Company's equity interests to Amalgam would be
expected to trigger a change of control under the Notes. The terms of the Notes require the Issuer, Brunswick
Rail Finance Designated Activity Company (Ireland), to make an offer to each holder of Notes, within 30
calendar days of becoming aware of a change of control, to redeem all or any part of its Notes at 101% of their
principal amount together with accrued and unpaid interest.
Setting aside the impact of the sale process mentioned above and a potential change of control, the Group has
prepared a base case cash flow forecast for the twelve months that began on 1 January 2017, using the key
assumption that an agreement is reached with the holders of the Notes on a restructuring of all of the Notes
before either the Notes become due for payment in November 2017 or are redeemed in whole or in part
pursuant to the change of control provisions contained in the terms of the Notes. Management believes that
the consensual restructuring is achievable even and if the change of control happens and accordingly these
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Other cash flow forecast assumptions include: (i) a RUB/USD exchange rate of 65.0 RUB/USD, (ii) the ability of
all of the Group’s clients to settle their obligations in due course based on their current contractual terms; and
(iii) the contract terms with the Group’s clients not substantially changing compared to such terms as of 31
December 2016 and no such contracts being cancelled or renegotiated.

12
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3

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented in these consolidated financial
statements unless otherwise stated.
Consolidation
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:
•

has power over the investee;

•

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the date the Company
gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to non-controlling interests, where applicable. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the noncontrolling interests having a deficit balance.
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured at their fair
values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest.
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of the subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.
Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activities, net of value added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after
eliminating sales within the Group.
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities
as described below. Revenues earned by the Group are recognized on the following bases:
(a)

Operating lease income
Operating lease income arises from two types of lease contracts; triple-net and full service lease
contracts. Under the triple-net lease, the lessee accepts full responsibility for depot repairs whereas
under the full-service lease contract, the Group is responsible for depot repairs. Under both types of
leases, income is recognized over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis.

(b)

Finance lease income
Lease income under finance leases is recognized over the term of the lease using the net investment
method which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.

(c)

Revenue from railway transportation services
Net revenue generated from freight rail transportation is defined as “transportation services income”.
Revenue is presented net of OAO “Russian Railways” tariffs as the Group has a contractual relationship
with the client and sets the selling and payment terms of the transaction excluding the OAO “Russian
Railways” tariff. Net revenue is recognized in accordance with the stage of completion of the journey.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(d)

Interest income
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method. When
a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the
estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and
continues unwinding the discount as interest income.

(e)

Other income
All other fees, commissions and other income items are generally recorded on an accrual basis by
reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided
as a proportion of the total services to be provided.

Foreign currency translation
(a)

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”) which is the Russian Ruble (“RUB”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
US Dollar (“USD”) which is the Group’s presentation currency as this is the currency considered most
appropriate by the Group’s investors.

(b)

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation, where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognized in the consolidated income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash
flow hedges.

(c)

Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of
a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
(i)

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

(ii)

share capital and reserves are translated at historic exchange rates;

(iii)

income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the
dates of the transactions); and

(iv)

all resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income and
accumulated as a separate component of equity.

The closing rates used are the exchange rates established by the Central Bank of the Russian
Federation, effective at each balance sheet date. For income and expenses, the transactions are
recalculated into USD, using the average monthly rate of exchange. The exchange rates effective at
31 December 2016 and 2015 were RUB 60.66 for 1 USD and RUB 72.88 for 1 USD respectively.
The annual average exchange rates for the years 2016 and 2015 were RUB 67.03 for 1 USD and
RUB 60.96 for 1 USD respectively.
Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the consolidated
income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
14
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Current and deferred income tax (continued)
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
The current income tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantially enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. If applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation, it
establishes provisions where appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred income tax is recognized using the balance sheet liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred income tax
assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the temporary differences can be offset.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the Company’s subsidiaries where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis. Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments
in subsidiaries, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Segment reporting
The business has been considered from a product perspective and Management has determined, based on the
reports reviewed by the Board of Directors, that there is one operating segment being engaged in a railcar
business in the form of lease rentals and transportation services.
Employee benefits
(a)

Bonus plan
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses. The Group recognises a provision when
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

(b)

Equity-settled share-based compensation
In equity-settled share-based payment transactions, the fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the award shares is recognized as an expense. The Group recognises the fair
value of the services received by the employees by reference to the grant date fair value of the shares.
The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value
of the award shares granted. The share-based compensation reserve balance is transferred to retained
earnings / accumulated losses upon transfer of the shares to employees.

Equipment
The Group’s equipment comprises mostly railcars, wheelsets, furniture and fixtures and computer equipment
which are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment where
required. Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of equipment.
Each part of an item of equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is
depreciated separately.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All
other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated income statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred. An asset’s carrying amount is written down to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
15
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Equipment (continued)
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognized in the consolidated income statement.
Depreciation for both wheelsets and railcars is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost
to their residual values, over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life of wheelsets is 5-9 years and
of the remaining part of the railcar is 22-40 years, depending on the type of railcar. Furniture and fixtures and
computer equipment are also depreciated using the straight-line method.
The annual depreciation rates are as follows:
%
Railcars
Wheelsets
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment

2,50 – 4,55
11,11 – 20,00
4,00 – 32,00
8,00 – 48,00

Revisions of the residual value and useful economic life of every asset are made at each reporting date. In case
any of the estimates changes, the new estimate is applied prospectively with the effect shown in the current
period and future accounting periods, where necessary.
Prepayments
Prepayments are carried at cost less provisions for impairment. A prepayment is classified as non-current when
the goods or services relating to the prepayment are expected to be obtained after one year, or when the
prepayment relates to an asset which will itself be classified as non-current upon initial recognition.
Other prepayments are written off to profit or loss when the goods or services relating to the prepayments are
received. If there is an indication that the assets, goods or services relating to a prepayment will not be
received, the carrying value of the prepayment is written down accordingly and a corresponding impairment
loss is recognized in profit or loss for the period.
Operating leases in which the Group is a lessee
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. In these situations the Group is considered to be the lessee. Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the consolidated income
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
Cost of services
The cost of services includes railcar repair costs (a major part of which relates to depot repairs), other
transportation services costs, other railcar expenses and transportation services subcontracted. Expenditures
are charged to the consolidated income statement of the period in which they are incurred.
Depot repairs
The first depot repairs are performed within two to three years from production, depending on the railcar type.
Thereafter depot repairs are performed every one to two years. To optimise the repair schedule, the Group
often uses a mileage based system, where the railcar’s time of repair is determined by the distance
travelled. Expenditures for depot repairs are charged to the consolidated income statement of the period in
which they are incurred.
Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to depreciation or amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment. Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units (“CGUs”)), being the type of rolling stock. Non-financial assets
that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversals of the impairment at each reporting date.
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Leases in which the Group is a lessor
A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee, in return of a payment or series of
payments, the right to use an asset for an agreed period of time.
(a)

Finance leases
Where the Group is a lessor in a lease which transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership to the lessee, the assets leased out are presented as a finance leases receivable and
carried at the present value of the future lease payments. Finance leases receivables are initially
recognized at commencement (when the lease term begins) using a discount rate determined at
inception (the earlier of the date of the lease agreement and the date of commitment by the parties to
the principal provisions of the lease). The difference between the gross receivables and the present
value represents unearned finance income (Note 17). This income is recognized over the term of the
lease using the net investment method (before tax), which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.
Impairment of finance leases receivables is recognized in the consolidated income statement when
incurred as a result of one or more events (“loss events”) that occurred after the initial recognition of
finance leases receivables. Impairment losses are recognized through an allowance account to write
down the receivables’ net carrying amount to the present value of expected cash flows (which exclude
future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the weighted average cost of capital
for the Company. The estimated future cash flows reflect the cash flows that may result from
repossessing and leasing out the assets.

(b)

Operating leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the Group
are classified as operating leases and the assets are included in the consolidated balance sheet under
‘Equipment’. In these situations the Group is considered to be the lessor.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less a provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, the probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators
that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the
amount of the loss is recognized in the consolidated income statement. When a trade receivable is
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited in the consolidated income statement.
VAT
Output value added tax related to sales is payable to the tax authorities on the earlier of (a) collection of the
receivables from customers or (b) delivery of the goods or services to customers. Input VAT is generally
recoverable against output VAT upon receipt of the VAT invoice. The tax authorities permit the settlement of
VAT on a net basis. VAT related to sales and purchases is recognized in the consolidated balance sheet on a
gross basis and disclosed separately as an asset and a liability. Where a provision has been made for an
impairment of receivables, impairment loss is recorded for the gross amount of the debtor, including VAT.
Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity as they are neither redeemable nor include an obligation for the Group
to pay dividends.
Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted from equity attributable to
the Company’s equity holders, until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders. Any excess of the fair value of
the consideration received over the par value of shares issued is recorded as ‘Share Premium’ in equity.
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Borrowings
Financial instruments which include an obligation to pay interest and/or principal, such as borrowings are
recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at
amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognized in the consolidated income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
rate method.
The effective interest method is a method of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period, so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest (effective interest rate) on the carrying amount. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts
(excluding future credit losses) through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, if
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial instrument.
The effective interest rate discounts cash flows of variable interest instruments to the next interest repricing
date, except for the premium or discount which reflects the credit spread over the floating rate specified in the
instrument, or other variables that are not reset to market rates. Such premiums or discounts are amortised
over the whole expected life of the instrument. The present value calculation includes all fees paid or received
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
In relation to the Group’s instruments with variable cash flows, the Group applies the accounting policy of
(a) recognizing borrowing costs on an accrual basis and (b) amortizing transaction costs incurred on its loan
facilities on a straight-line basis over the periods of the loans.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. To the extent there is evidence that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the facility fee is accounted for as a transaction
cost under IAS 39. The facility fee is deferred in full and treated as a transaction cost when draw down occurs.
It is not amortised prior to the draw down. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the facility fee is capitalized as a prepayment for services and amortised
over the period of the facility to which it relates. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the balance sheet
date.
Sale and leaseback
A sale and leaseback transaction involves the sale of an asset and the leasing back of the same asset to the
seller. If a sale and leaseback transaction results in a finance lease, any excess of sales proceeds over the
carrying amount is deferred and amortized over the lease term.
When the overall economic effect of a sale and leaseback transaction cannot be understood without reference
to the series of transactions as a whole (i.e. when the series of transactions are closely interrelated, negotiated
as a single transaction, and take place concurrently or in a continuous sequence) the transaction is accounted
for as one transaction, usually a collateralized borrowing.
As described in Note 23, the Group entered into a sale and leaseback transaction with Alfa-Leasing LLC and as a
result this new accounting policy was applied.
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
Mezzanine credit facility
The mezzanine credit facility was a hybrid financial instrument which included both a non-derivative host
contract and embedded derivatives. The embedded derivatives identified in the agreement were (i) a right for
the holder of the facility to request a conversion of the outstanding balance of the facility into shares in the
Company and (ii) a prepayment option for the Issuer under which the Company can, under certain conditions,
elect to repay the facility early. The right of the holder described in (i) expired in 2015.
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Mezzanine credit facility (continued)
The host contract is accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest method which is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and allocating the interest expense over the relevant period
of the loan. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Company estimates cash flows considering all the
contractual terms of the financial instrument and the calculation includes all fees paid, transaction costs, and
all other premiums or discounts. Only cash flows that can be estimated reliably are included in the calculation.
Finance lease payables in which the Group is a lessee
Lease of equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the
leased assets and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between
the liability and the finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in “Borrowings” in the consolidated
balance sheet. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the consolidated income statement over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.
Upon settlement or refinancing, the finance leases are derecognised and any gain or loss arising on settlement
or refinancing is recognized immediately in the consolidated income statement within finance costs and
income.
Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include deposits held at call with banks. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at
amortised cost.
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New standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards

Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations
In the current year, the following new and revised standards and interpretations have been adopted and where
applicable, have affected the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements:


Amendments to IFRS 11 – Accounting for Acquisition of Interests in Joint Operations;



Amendments to IAS 1 – Disclosure Initiative;



Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation;



Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 – Agriculture: Bearer Plants;



Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 – Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
Exception;



IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts;



Amendments to IAS 27 – Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements;



Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle.

The adoption of these new and revised standards and interpretations did not have a significant effect on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments2;



IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers2;



IFRS 16 Leases3



IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration2;
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New standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards
(continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)


IFRS 2 – Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions2;



Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture4;



Amendments to IAS 12 – Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses1;



Amendments to IAS 7 – Disclosure Initiative1;



Amendments to IAS 40 – Transfers of Investment Property²;



Amendments to IFRS 4 – Applying IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' with IFRS 4 'Insurance Contracts¹;



Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers².



Annual improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle5.

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with earlier application permitted.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with earlier application permitted.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier application permitted.
4 The amendment was initially issued in September 2014 with an effective date of 1 January 2016. In December 2015, the
IASB deferred the effective date of the amendments indefinitely until the research project on the equity method has been
concluded.
5 Depending on the amendment, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or 2018.
2

Early adoption is permitted for all new or amended standards and interpretations. IFRS 16 can be early adopted
if IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers has also been applied.
Management is currently considering the potential impact of the adoption of these standards and
amendments. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of their effect until a detailed
review has been completed.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The key requirements of IFRS 9 are:
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Classification and measurement of financial assets. All recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are required to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business
model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured
at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within
a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets, and that have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are generally measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income. All other debt investments and equity investments
are measured at their fair value at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under IFRS
9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an
equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend
income generally recognised in profit or loss.



Classification and measurement of financial liabilities. With regard to the measurement of financial
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in
the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is
presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the
liability's credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in
profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability's credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the
financial liability designated at fair value through profit or loss is presented in profit or loss.
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)



Impairment. In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss
model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model
requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no
longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses can be recognised.



Hedge accounting. The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge
accounting mechanisms currently available in IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced to
the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the types of instruments that
qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non-financial items that are eligible for
hedge accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of
an economic relationship. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required.
Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management activities have also been introduced.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18
Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods and services. Specifically, the standard provides a single, principles based
five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers.
The five steps in the model are as follows:



Identify the contract with the customer



Identify the performance obligations in the contract



Determine the transaction price



Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts



Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when or as a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when control
of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Far
more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive
disclosures are required by IFRS 15.
IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 Leases brings most leases on-balance sheet for lessees under a single model, eliminating the distinction
between operating and finance leases. Lessor accounting however remains largely unchanged and the
distinction between operating and finance leases is retained.
Under IFRS 16, a lessee recognises a right-of-use asset and the lease liability. The right-of-use asset is treated
similarly to other non-financial assets, depreciated accordingly and the liability accrues interest. The lease
liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term,
discounted at the rate implicit in the lease, or if that cannot be readily determined, the lessee shall use their
incremental borrowing rate.
As with IAS 17 Leases, lessors classify leases as operating or finance in nature. A lease is classified as a finance
lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset.
Otherwise, a lease is classified as an operating lease. For finance leases, a lessor recognises finance income
over the lease term, based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment. A
lessor recognises operating lease payments as income on a straight-line basis or, if more representative of the
pattern in which the benefit from the use of the underlying asset is diminished, another systematic basis.
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Financial risk management

(a)

Financial risk factors
The Group's activities expose it to certain financial risks:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

Foreign exchange risk
Credit risk
Liquidity and interest rate risk

The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The Group used
derivative financial instruments in 2015 to hedge certain risk exposures.
Risk management is carried out by the Group’s Management under policies approved by the Board.
(i)

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk of a negative impact on the value or earnings of the Group
caused by fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from fluctuations in the exchange rates between the RUB and the USD. The foreign
exchange gains credited to the consolidated income statement amounted to US$123.867
thousand in the year ended 31 December 2016 (foreign exchange losses 2015: US$173.990
thousand).
As at 31 December 2016, if the RUB had strengthened / weakened by 20 per cent relative to the
USD, with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been
US$141.607 thousand higher/lower mainly as a result of foreign exchange differences on the
translation of USD-denominated borrowings. As at 31 December 2015, if the RUB had
strengthened / weakened by 20 per cent relative to the USD, with all other variables held
constant, post-tax loss for the year would have been US$139.414 thousand higher/lower mainly
as a result of foreign exchange differences on the translation of USD-denominated borrowings.

(ii) Credit risk
Credit risk arises when a failure by counterparties to discharge their obligations could reduce the
amount of future cash inflows from the Group’s assets, whether in the form of deposits with
banks and financial institutions or in the form of lease agreements with clients.
For short-term deposits and cash on current accounts, credit risk is managed by using only
reputable counterparties with independent credit ratings. The Group holds the majority of its
cash reserves with VTB and Alfa Bank.
The Group has established a policy which describes the process by which new lease clients shall
be accepted. A cornerstone in the policy is the evaluation of all new clients and transactions
taking into account the financial strength of the lessee, the quality of the leased equipment and
the transaction structure.
There are several criteria which are used to control customer credit risk including:
 minimum lessee criteria which categorize customers/lessees between A and B categories,
 equipment classification between liquid, semi-liquid and illiquid based on which maximum
portfolio exposure on each class is monitored and controlled (as the Group needs to be
able to remarket its railcars in the secondary market, it classifies its railcar fleet in terms of
liquidity by looking (i) at the number of railcars and (ii) at the number of users of each
railcar type in the Russian market and based on a number of predetermined thresholds,
the Group classifies its railcars accordingly),
 portfolio concentration limits including single lessee exposure (not more than 20 per cent
of the total portfolio except in the case of one client for which the limit is 30 per cent of
the total portfolio) and single industry exposure (not more than 35 per cent, except for
the transportation industry where the exposure can be 60 per cent).
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Financial risk management (continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(ii)

Credit risk (continued)
The limits above have been set by the Credit Policy of the Group approved by the Board. The
Credit Committee consists of three members of the Board and senior Management of the
Group who are empowered to deal and present to the Credit Committee the transactions for
approval.
Depending on the level of transaction and the exposure on a single client, the transaction may
be approved only by senior Management or may, in case the aggregate exposure to the lessee
exceeds US$10 million, require the approval of the Board members of the Credit Committee
who have the right to veto the transaction.
For the credit qualities of financial assets refer to Note 14(b).
Certain trade receivables have been impaired. The balance of these receivables as of 31
December 2016 amounted to US$18.645 thousand (2015: US$22.172 thousand) (Note 18).
No other financial assets are either past due or impaired. As at 31 December 2016 and 31
December 2015 the Group did not have any credit related commitments.

(iii)

Liquidity and interest rate risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to settle all liabilities as they fall due.
The Group’s liquidity position is carefully monitored and managed by the treasury function.
The Group earns its income primarily through the rentals received on its leased fleet of
railcars. All rental levels, expressed as a daily rental rate payable per railcar, are agreed at the
start either as a fixed rate throughout the contract term or, in some cases, with periodical
predefined increases or decreases with the mutual consent of the parties or, in some cases,
with a unilateral right for the Group to adjust the rate upwards in the event market rates have
increased.
The Group’s portfolio is primarily financed with the Notes, which carry a fixed interest rate
(Note 23). As a consequence, the effect on the profit and equity of a change in the interest
rates on USD-denominated borrowings, with all other variables held constant, is not
considered to be material.
In 2015, the Group managed its interest rate exposure on the syndicated loan through the use
of interest rate swaps through which it converted floating interest payments to a fixed rate
interest. By doing so, it mitigated the risk of fluctuations in the interest cost on the debt
caused by changes in the market interest rates. As a consequence, the effect on profit or loss
and on the equity of a change in the interest rates on RUB-denominated borrowings, with all
other variables held constant, was not material. The syndicated loan facility was fully repaid
on 18 January 2016 (Note 23).
The table below summarizes the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk as at 31 December
2016 and 31 December 2015, presenting the aggregated amounts of the Group’s liabilities
at carrying amounts, and showing how those financial liabilities become or would have
become due and payable. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
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Financial risk management (continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(iii)

Liquidity and interest rate risk (continued)
Effective
interest rate
%

At 31 December 2016
Non-interest bearing
Finance lease liabilities
Variable interest rate
instruments:
- Shareholder loan
Fixed interest rate
instruments:
- Notes
- Mezzanine

At 31 December 2015
Non-interest bearing
Finance lease liabilities
Variable interest rate
instruments:
- Shareholder loan
- Syndicated loan
Fixed interest rate
instruments:
- Notes
- Mezzanine

6.750%

7.216%
15.652%

5.488%
14.26% 19.50%

7.216%
15.652%

Less than
1 year
US$000

1 to 3
years
US$000

3 to 5
years
US$000

Over
5 years
US$000

Total
US$000

Carrying
amount
US$000

5.329
32.938

1.121

561

-

5.329
34.620

5.329
31.322

3.340

-

-

-

3.340

3.340

116.689
_______
117.250
=======

_______
=======

639.000
163.119
_________
845.408
=========

603.519
100.349
_______
743.859
=======

639.000
15.477
_______
696.084
=======

30.953
_______
32.074
=======

4.912
1.675

1.866

933

-

4.912
4.474

4.912
3.466

5.583

3.575

-

-

9.158

8.414

59.731

-

-

-

59.731

54.562

39.000
13.466
_______
124.367
=======

639.000
26.857
_______
671.298
=======

114.678
_______
115.611
=======

_______
=======

678.000
155.001
_________
911.276
=========

600.165
86.768
_______
758.287
=======

Management believes that the financial assets are not relevant to the exposure to the interest rate
risk analysis as they are not considered as assets generating revenue and consist mainly of short term
bank placements and finance leases receivables.
(b)

Leverage ratio management
The Group has historically monitored its consolidated maintenance leverage ratio (“leverage ratio”),
including for the purpose of the covenant compliance in relation to its syndicated loan facility. The
syndicated loan facility was fully repaid on 18 January 2016 (Note 23).
The Group’s leverage ratio at 31 December 2016 and 2015 was calculated as follows:

Net debt
Adjusted EBITDA (unaudited) ¹
Leverage ratio

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

584.463
__________

599.292
__________

86.686

80.050

__________

__________

6.74x
==========

7.49x
==========

The leverage ratio, is calculated as the Group’s net debt (defined as consolidated indebtedness,
excluding the mezzanine facility, less cash and cash equivalents), divided by the annualized aggregate
adjusted EBITDA of the two most recent financial quarters.
¹ the adjusted EBITDA presented herein differs from the annual adjusted EBITDA presented in Note 30.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.
(i)

Deferred income tax asset recognition
The recognized deferred income tax asset represents income taxes recoverable through future
deductions from taxable profits and is recorded in the consolidated balance sheet. Deferred income
tax assets are recorded to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit is probable. The future
taxable profits and the amount of tax benefits that are probable in the future are based on the
medium-term business plan, in the form of a taxable profits forecast prepared for the 10-year period
starting from the end of the reporting date, prepared by the Group’s Management and extrapolated
results thereafter. The business plan is based on the Group’s Management expectations and the
assumptions incorporated in relation to RUB/USD rates, railcar fleet, income and expenses and
financing are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The valuation of the deferred tax asset is highly sensitive to the successful restructuring of the Group’s
existing debt. Main possible scenarios relating to finance restructuring are not anticipated to
negatively affect the utilization of taxable losses carried forward at the Russian entity level and
therefore the deferred tax asset is expected to be fully recovered.

(ii)

Impairment of equipment
The Group reviews equipment for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable. The Group measures the recoverability of
assets to be held and used by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to its estimated recoverable
amount, which is equal to the asset’s value in use. The value in use is calculated based on the future
discounted cash flows; these are based on a number of assumptions including: lease rates, lease
contract terms, transportation rates and volume, operating costs, the residual life of the asset and the
discount rates. If the Group determines that an asset is impaired, it records an impairment loss equal
to the excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its estimated recoverable amount. At the same time
the Group reviews equipment for possible reversals of the impairment at the end of each reporting
period (Note 15).
As a result of the equipment review for impairment as at 31 December 2016, the Group determined
that the recoverable amount of certain types of assets (determined as the higher of their fair value
and value in use), exceeded their carrying value at the end of the reporting period by US$96.936
thousand. At the same time, the Group determined that the carrying value of other types of assets
exceeded the recoverable amount of these assets by US$52.225 thousand at the end of the reporting
period. As a result, a net reversal of previously recognised impairment losses in the amount of
US$44.711 thousand was recorded in the consolidated income statement (2015: impairment losses of
US$165.043 thousand).

(iii)

Provision for doubtful debts
The Group’s trade receivables are regularly reviewed by Management. The facts and circumstances
relating to particular trade receivables are evaluated regularly in determining whether future
economic benefits will flow to the Group and, once established, whether a provision relating to a
specific trade receivable should be established or revised. Accordingly, significant management
judgement relating to provisions for doubtful debts is required, since the outcome of recovery is
difficult to predict.

(iv)

Useful lives of equipment
As described in the significant accounting policies in Note 3 above, the Group reviews the estimated
useful lives of equipment at the end of each reporting period. In case any of the estimates changes,
the new estimate is applied prospectively, with the effect shown in the current period and future
accounting periods, where necessary. There was no revision of the estimated useful lives during the
current year.
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Revenue
Year ended
Year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
US$000
US$000

Full service operating leases
Triple‐net operating leases
Transportation services income
Finance leases

73.606
23.027
21.613
803
__________

Total external revenue

119.049
==========

8

83.430
28.500
20.540
1.064
__________

133.534
==========

Cost of services
Year ended
Year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
US$000
US$000

Railcar repair costs
Other transportation services expenses
Other railcar expenses
Railcar insurance
Transportation services subcontracted

10.577
8.816
1.760
197
97
_________
21.447
=========

Total cost of services

9

10.223
9.278
2.298
268
11
_________
22.078
=========

Other operating expenses ¹
Year ended
Year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
US$000
US$000

Legal and other professional fees
Provision for bad debts (Note 18)
Directors’ fees and expenses (Note 27)
Rent and related expenses
Auditor’s remuneration
Professional services associated with forensic review, sanctions
related matters and litigation processes
Travelling, accommodation and entertainment
Other operating expenses
Information technology costs
Consultancy fees
Advertising and marketing
Communication costs
Total other operating expenses

1.233
1.118
897
731
535

1.640
9.207
1.187
1.105
408

511
446
326
125
91
77
43
_________
6.133
=========

1.260
425
307
111
144
140
55
_________
15.989
=========

¹ Certain amounts for 2015 have been restated to align with the current presentation

10

Staff compensation, excluding share-based compensation
Year ended
Year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
US$000
US$000

Salaries
Bonuses
Other staff costs
Medical insurance costs
Total staff costs
26

4.816
1.376
1.129
166

5.184
1.022
2.360
251

_________

_________

7.487
=========

8.817
=========
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Share-based compensation

Management incentive plan (“MIP”)
The Group did not accrue any expense for the MIP for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: US$231
thousand, with a corresponding credit to a share-based compensation reserve in equity).
No new share awards were granted during the year. There were 669,948 share awards outstanding
as at 31 December 2016 and 2015.
Former management share plans
The Group did not accrue any expense on the former CEOs’ share plans for the year ended 31 December 2016
(2015: US$32 thousand, with a corresponding credit to a share-based compensation reserve in equity).
In 2015, the Group announced changes in its key management that ultimately included the termination of a
former CEO’s employment. This led to unwinding the re-allocation of the principal amount of the recourse loan
to the non-recourse loan and as a result, the amount previously reclassified to equity was recorded as a loan
receivable. The non-recourse and recourse loans became due for repayment and the Group was in discussions
and correspondence with the former CEO as to the manner of repayment.
On 8 July 2016, the Group commenced arbitration proceedings against the former CEO to recover the
outstanding receivables due to the Group in relation to the recourse loan agreement.
Steps have also been taken to enforce the pledge over the shares secured against the non-recourse loan,
starting on 1 February 2017. The Group anticipates that this process will be completed shortly.
The total equity-settled share-based compensation expense recorded in the consolidated income statement
was calculated as follows:
Year ended
Year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
US$000
US$000
Management incentive plan (“MIP”)
Former management share plans
Total share-based compensation expense

_________
_________

231
32
_________
263
_________

The share-based compensation reserve balance included in the consolidated balance sheet under the heading
“other reserves” (Note 22) is analyzed as follows:

Opening balance – 1 January
Share-based compensation
Currency translation differences
Closing balance – 31 December
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2016
US$000

2015
US$000

3.016
_________
3.016
=========

2.759
263
(6)
_________
3.016
=========
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Finance costs and income
Year ended
Year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
US$000
US$000

Finance costs
Interest expenses - Notes
Interest expenses - mezzanine facility
Interest expenses - finance lease payables
Other borrowing costs
Interest expenses - syndicated bank loans

Bank charges

Finance income
Interest income on bank balances and other interest
income
Fair value gains on interest rate swap - cash flow hedge,
transfer from other comprehensive income

Net finance costs

13

41.924
13.456
8.110
1.151
1.019
__________
65.660

42.690
11.929
678
1.566
11.685
__________
68.548

77
__________
65.737
__________

96
__________
68.644
__________

(4.503)

(4.617)

__________
(4.503)
__________
61.234
==========

(1.097)
__________
(5.714)
__________
62.930
==========

Income tax expense
Year ended
Year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
US$000
US$000

Current tax expense
Deferred tax (expenses)/credit (Note 19)
Income tax (expense)/credit

(450)
(31.099)
_________
(31.549)
=========

(520)
59.621
_________
59.101
=========

The tax on the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
applicable tax rates as follows:
Year ended
Year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
US$000
US$000
Profit/(loss) before income tax
Tax calculated at Russian statutory tax rate of 20 per cent
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Tax effect on income in jurisdictions which are either exempt from
taxation or have different tax rates
Tax (expenses)/credit

28

155.895
___________
(31.179)

(358.275)
___________
71.655

480

(1.914)

(850)
___________
(31.549)
===========

(10.640)
___________
59.101
===========
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Income tax expense (continued)

Tax is calculated in accordance with the fiscal policies of the country of incorporation of each Group company.
At the present time, no income, profit or capital gains taxes are levied in Bermuda, as the Group has received
assurance from the Bermuda Government exempting its Bermudan subsidiaries from all local income,
withholding and capital gains taxes until 31 March 2035. Subsidiaries registered in Russia, Ireland and Cyprus
are subject to corporation tax at the following applicable rates: Russia 20%, Ireland 25% and Cyprus 12,5%.
Non-deductible expenses relate mainly to expenses which are non-deductible in accordance with Cyprus, Irish
and Russian tax legislation.

14

Financial instruments

(a) Financial instruments by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:
Loans and receivables

Assets as per the consolidated balance sheet
Finance leases receivable
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)
Cash and cash equivalents
Total

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

386
8.135
53.718
___________
62.239
===========

6.807
13.004
67.315
___________
87.126
===========

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

638.181
100.349
5.329
____________
743.859
============

666.607
86.768
4.912
____________
758.287
============

Other financial liabilities at amortised cost

Liabilities as per the consolidated balance sheet
Borrowings (including finance lease payables)
Mezzanine credit facility
Trade and other payables (excluding advances)
Total

(b) Credit quality of financial assets
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to
external credit ratings (if available) or internal credit ratings according to criteria set by Group Management
including, among others, minimum lease criteria and portfolio concentration limits:
2016
2015
US$000
US$000
Cash and cash equivalents
International Ratings agencies long-term rating
BB+
29.687
Ba1
23.046
A
653
1.229
Not rated
111
86
Ba2
8
BBB213
66.000
__________
__________
53.718
67.315
==========
==========
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Financial instruments (continued)

(b) Credit quality of financial assets (continued)

Finance leases receivable
Counterparties without external credit rating
B (internal rating)
Non-rated

Category B lessees –

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

386
__________
386
==========

583
6.224
__________
6.807
==========

minimum turnover US$15 million, minimum equity US$5 million, minimum
EBIT/interest ratio 1.10, minimum EBITDA / debt ratio 0.15, maximum debt/equity
ratio 4.0

Trade and other receivables representing financial assets are neither past due nor impaired with the exception
of certain debtor balances for which a specific provision for impairment was recognized (Note 18).
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Equipment

Railcars
US$000
As at 1 January 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Net book amount
Year ended 31 December 2015
Opening net book amount
Additions
Impairment losses on railcars
Disposals / retirement of assets
Depreciation charge
Depreciation on disposal
Exchange differences on cost
Exchange differences on depreciation
Closing net book amount
As at 31 December 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Net book amount
As at 1 January 2016
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Net book amount
Year ended 31 December 2016
Opening net book amount
Additions
Reversal of impairment losses on railcars
Disposals / retirement of assets
Depreciation charge
Depreciation on disposal
Exchange differences on cost
Exchange differences on depreciation
Closing net book amount
As at 31 December 2016
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Net book amount

Furniture,
fittings & office
equipment
US$000

Total
US$000

817.506
(180.695)
____________
636.811
============
636.811
10.202
(165.043)
(6.150)
(35.381)
2.091
(187.073)
46.933
____________
302.390
____________

667
(376)
___________
291
===========
291
36
(33)
(108)
33
(149)
99
___________
169
___________

818.173
(181.071)
___________
637.102
===========
637.102
10.238
(165.043)
(6.183)
(35.489)
2.124
(187.222)
47.032
___________
302.559
___________

634.485
(332.095)
____________
302.390
============

521
(352)
___________
169
===========

635.006
(332.447)
___________
302.559
===========

634.485
(332.095)
____________
302.390
============
302.390
17.591
44.711
(13.473)
(20.885)
7.961
128.377
(68.393)
____________
398.279
____________

521
(352)
___________
169
===========
169
21
(53)
(98)
53
99
(76)
___________
115
___________

635.006
(332.447)
___________
302.559
===========
302.559
17.612
44.711
(13.526)
(20.983)
8.014
128.476
(68.469)
___________
398.394
___________

766.980
(368.701)
____________
398.279
============

588
(473)
___________
115
===========

767.568
(369.174)
___________
398.394
===========

Equipment includes 25.505 railcars (2015: 25.548), which are held by the Group subsidiary companies. Out of
the total equipment, 23.337 railcars are leased out under operating leases and short-term rentals (2015:
20.920) and 2.168 are used for shipments of coal, metals and other freights (2015: 4.628).
Intangible assets in the amount of US$70 thousand are included within the equipment in the consolidated
balance sheet amount as at 31 December 2016 (2015: US$84 thousand). Intangible assets amortisation in the
amount of US$30 thousand is included within depreciation and amortisation in the consolidated income
statement for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: US$32 thousand).
Equipment pledged as collateral
At 31 December 2016, no railcars were pledged as collateral (2015: 3.398), as the syndicated loan facility, under
which certain railcars had been pledged as collateral, was fully repaid on 18 January 2016 (Note 23).
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Equipment (continued)

Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment losses) on railcars
During 2016, the railcar leasing market environment has shown signs of improvement and stabilization. As a
result of the equipment review for impairment or possible reversals of impairment as at 31 December 2016,
the Group has identified certain factors that supported the recovery of the lease rates for gondolas and other
types of railcars in the Group’s fleet namely: (i) the continuous scrapping of gondolas (a total of 125 thousand
gondolas were scrapped in 2015 and 2016), reducing the railcar surplus to approximately 2% of gondola fleet
and (ii) an increase in transportation volumes of ca. 1% compared to 2015 mainly driven by an increase in
transportation of coal and construction materials. Starting in the second quarter of 2016, the spot rates for
gondolas improved from ca. 500 RUB/day to ca. 850 RUB/day at 31 December 2016. The Group has been
monitoring the market for these types of railcars and believes that the trends identified for gondolas are
sustainable and indicative of longer-term changes in the market.
At the same time, the Group has identified a number of factors that have negatively affected and decreased
the recoverable amount of the oil and gas tank cars during the reporting period. The rates for certain
specialized railcars, such as oil tanks and particularly gas tanks, remained severely depressed. Market rates for
oil tanks were ca. 400-500 RUB /day. The demand for gas tanks remained very low.
The review led to the recognition of a net reversal of impairment losses in an amount of US$44.711 thousand
(2015: impairment losses of US$165.043 thousand) which has been recorded in profit or loss.
The reversal of impairment loss / (impairment loss) attributable to each CGU is presented below:
Year ended
Year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
US$000
US$000
Gondolas
Oil tanks
Gas tanks
Auto carriers
Hoppers
Box wagons

96.936
(34.784)
(15.399)
(2.042)
__________
44.711
==========

(110.740)
(36.059)
(11.413)
(6.831)
__________
(165.043)
==========

The Group measured the recoverability of equipment by comparing the carrying amount of the equipment to
its estimated recoverable amount, which is equal to the higher of fair value and value in use of the equipment.
The value in use was calculated based on the future discounted cash flows from the use of the equipment.
The following significant assumptions were used in the value in use calculation:
- the Group's weighted average gross lease rate in 2017 of RUB 851/day (weighted by the Group’s railcar fleet),
gross lease rate includes transportation costs as a part of gross revenue that are paid by clients;
- average operating costs (including transportation costs) of RUB 112 thousand per railcar per year;
- the discount rate of 17.3 percent for RUB cash flows and 15.0 percent for USD cash flows.
The value in use calculation is particularly sensitive to changes in market lease rates and discount rate. If the
market lease rates increase/decrease by 10 per cent, with all other variables held constant, value in use would
have been ca. 14.6 percent higher/lower. If the discount rate increases/decreases by 1 percent, with all other
variables held constant, value in use would have been ca. 5.4/4.9 percent higher/lower.
The reversal of impairment losses/(impairment losses) on railcars has been presented in the consolidated
income statement under “reversal of impairment losses /(impairment losses) on railcars”.

16

Expenses related to finance restructuring

In light of recent developments and the present inability to reach a consensual transaction with the holders of
the Notes, Management deemed it prudent to expense certain costs that related to the finance restructuring
project during the reporting period in the amount of US$10.273 thousand, presented in the consolidated
income statement under “Expenses related to finance restructuring”.
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Expenses related to finance restructuring (continued)

During 2016, certain costs in the amount of US$1.771 thousand were debited to equity as they were deemed
directly attributable to the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“EBRD”) Voluntary
Conversion. The conversion has benefited the Group as it has simplified the Company's capital structure, which
would align interests among the Company's various stakeholder groups (Note 21).
Certain costs relating to VTB financing have been capitalised and included within ‘Other non-current assets’ as
of 31 December 2016. Depending upon the final form of any restructuring transaction achieved, any costs
capitalized that are found to be non-directly attributable to the specific transaction will be expensed in profit or
loss in future periods.
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
US$000
US$000
Finance restructuring expenses
Balance at beginning of year
Capitalised / paid during the year
Expensed during the year
Reclassified to equity
Currency translation differences

4.474
14.131
(10.273)
(1.771)
509
_________
7.070

4.577
(103)
_________
4.474

Non-current trade receivables ¹
Recognised during the year
Balance at end of year

149

-

_________

_________

7.219
=========

4.474
=========

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

__________
==========

5.879
(899)
__________
4.980
==========

487
(21)
(80)
__________
386
==========

2.887
(803)
(257)
__________
1.827
==========

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

487
__________
487

2.887
5.879
__________
8.766

(21)
(80)
__________
386
==========

(1.702)
(257)
__________
6.807
==========

¹ Non-current trade receivables relate to certain penalties and fines receivable from a client.
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Finance leases receivable

Non-current receivables
Finance leases – gross receivables
Unearned finance income

Current receivables
Finance leases – gross receivables
Unearned finance income
Lease payments received in advance

Gross receivables from finance leases
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years

Unearned future finance income on finance leases
Lease payments received in advance
Net investment in finance leases
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Finance leases receivable (continued)

The net investment in finance leases may be analysed as follows:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

386
__________
386
==========

1.827
4.980
__________
6.807
==========

As of 31 December 2016 the net investment in finance leases was 98 railcars (2015: 208 railcars).
The fair value of finance leases receivables approximates their carrying amount at the balance sheet date.
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Trade and other receivables

Operating lease income receivables
Other receivables and prepayments
Transportation income receivables

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

3.802
2.592
2.447
__________
8.841
==========

6.469
4.598
2.386
__________
13.453
==========

Other than the debtor balances for which a specific provision for impairment of receivables was recognized at
an amount of US$18.645 thousand (31 December 2015: US$22.172 thousand) no other trade and other
receivables balance is considered to be impaired.
In June 2016, a settlement agreement was signed with a client pursuant to which the client transferred 57
mineral hoppers to the Group and at the same time, assumed certain penalties and fines in the amount of
US$2.479 thousand. Management considered that amounts receivable during the first two years from the date
of signing of the settlement agreement were recoverable and deemed it appropriate to recognise a bad debt
provision for probable losses on all receivables falling due thereafter. As a result, the amount of US$883
thousand was recognized in the consolidated income statement under ‘other operating income’.
The other receivables and prepayments balance as at 31 December 2015 included an amount of US$891
thousand which relates to the sale of 200 railcars during 2014.
The movement of the provision for the impairment of receivables is as follows:

Opening balance at 1 January
Charge to the consolidated income statement for the year
Reversal of provisions on debt settlements
Currency translation differences
Closing balance at 31 December

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

22.172
1.118
(9.189)
4.544
_________
18.645
=========

10.911
9.207
2.054
_________
22.172
=========

The Group’s trade and other receivables are primarily denominated in RUB.
The operating lease income receivables, the transportation income receivables and the receivable from the
sale of railcars represent financial assets. As at 31 December 2016, out of the total balance of US$2.592
thousand (2015: US$4.598 thousand) pertaining to other receivables and prepayments, an amount of US$1.885
thousand (2015: US$3.258 thousand) represents financial assets.
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Trade and other receivables (continued)

During 2016, the railcar leasing market environment has shown signs of improvement and stabilization; together
with the stabilization of the market, clients’ payment discipline substantially improved and certain doubtful
receivables were collected, following Management’s successful negotiations and signing of settlement agreements.
Provision for bad debts, in an amount of US$1.118 thousand was recognised in the consolidated income
statement in 2016 (2015: provision for bad debts of US$9.207 thousand). The charge for the year includes a
provision in the amount of US$1.650 thousand in relation to the outstanding recourse loan receivable granted
to former management as at 31 December 2016 (Note 11). This was partly offset by the partial recovery of a
client’s receivables, which were fully provided for in prior years, which led to a reversal of the provision for bad
debts in an amount of US$1.094 thousand.
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Deferred income tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The offset
amounts are as follows:

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax asset

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

59.350
(9.872)
___________
49.478
===========

76.785
(9.872)
___________
66.913
===========

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

66.913
(31.099)
13.664
___________
49.478
===========

15.826
59.621
(8.534)
___________
66.913
===========

The gross movement on the Group’s deferred income tax account is as follows:

Beginning of the year
Deferred tax (expense)/credit (Note 13)
Exchange differences
Net deferred tax asset

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration
the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:
Equipment and
intangible assets
US$000

Finance
lease
receivables
US00$

Finance
lease
payables
US$000

Provisions and
accrued
expenses
US$000$

Carried
forward tax
losses
US$000

Total
US$000

(Deferred tax liabilities) / deferred
tax assets
At 1 January 2015
(Charged)/credited to the
consolidated income statement
Exchange difference
At 31 December 2015/1 January
2016
(Charged)/credited to the
consolidated income statement
Deferred tax balance reclassified to
‘Equipment and other intangible
assets’
Exchange difference
At 31 December 2016

(29.933)
_________

(1.388)
_________

3.510
_________

697
________

42.940
_________

15.826
_________

32.028
7.440
_________

(16)
290

(87)
(3.690)

3.249
(678)

24.447
(11.896)

59.621
(8.534)

___________

___________

__________

___________

___________

9.535
_________

(1.114)

(267)

___________

___________

__________

___________

___________

639

(299)

(1.207)

(21.088)

(31.099)

544
(162)

(85)

10.777

13.664

___________

___________

(93)

(651)

___________

___________

(9.144)

(544)
2.512
_________
2.359
_________

3.268

622
__________

2.683
__________

55.491

___________

45.180
___________

66.913

___________

49.478
___________

Deferred tax assets are recognized for tax losses carried forward to the extent that the realization of the
related tax benefit through the use of future taxable profits is probable.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank
Short-term bank deposits

21

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

2.179
51.539
___________
53.718
===========

16.405
50.910
___________
67.315
===========

Share capital, share premium and treasury shares
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
US$000
US$000

Share capital
Share premium
Treasury shares

245.875
148.967
(12.199)
__________
382.643
==========
31 December 2016

Ordinary shares
Convertible Preference
shares
Redeemable Deferral shares

31 December 2015

US$000

Share
premium
US$000

Treasury
shares
US$000

245.875

148.967

Share capital

_________
245.875
=========

271.895
120.880
(12.199)
__________
380.576
==========

US$000

Share
Treasury shares
premium
US$000
US$000

(12.199)

212.198

123.602

(12.199)

_________ _________
148.967
(12.199)
========= =========

50.000
9.697
_________
271.895
=========

(2.722)
_________
120.880
=========

_________
(12.199)
=========

Share
capital
US$000

Share
premium
US$000

Treasury
shares
US$000

Total
US$000

Share capital

Ordinary share capital
Number
of shares
At 1 January 2015
Unwinding the reallocation of loan
granted to former management
At 31 December 2015/1 January 2016
Amendment in reallocation of loan
granted to former management (1)
Voluntary Conversion of Preference shares
and redeemable deferral shares into
ordinary shares
Transaction costs associated with the
issue and Voluntary Conversion of
Preference shares
At 31 December 2016

36

203.449.579
212.198
122.817
(12.837)
322.178
___________ __________ __________ __________ __________
638.925
785
638
1.423
___________ __________ __________ __________ __________
204.088.504
212.198
123.602
(12.199)
323.601
=========== ========== ========== ========== ==========
63.116

-

145

-

145

33.677.205

33.677

29.713

-

63.390

(4.493)
(4.493)
___________ __________ __________ __________ __________
237.828.825
245.875
148.967
(12.199)
382.643
=========== ========== ========== ========== ==========
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Share capital, share premium and treasury shares (continued)

Ordinary share capital (continued)
(1)

Former management share plans

In February and August 2016, as part of documenting the arrangements under which the former CEO, former Chairman of the Board
agreed to take on the role of CEO, the Group signed certain agreements with the former CEO (former Chairman), amending the conditions
and timing under his share-based plan for portions of the original principal amount of the recourse loan to be re-allocated to the nonrecourse loan.

Convertible Preference shares
Number
of shares
At 1 January 2015 /31 December 2015

Voluntary Conversion of Preference
shares into ordinary shares
At 31 December 2016

50.000.000
==========

Share
capital
US$000

50.000
==========

(50.000.000)
(50.000)
__________ __________
========== ==========

Share
premium
US$000

(2.722)
==========

Total
US$000

47.278
==========

2.722
(47.278)
__________ __________
========== ==========

Redeemable Deferral shares

At 1 January 2015
Issue of share capital
At 31 December 2015/1 January 2016

Issue of share capital
Voluntary Conversion of redeemable
Deferral shares into ordinary shares
At 31 December 2016

Number
of shares

Share
capital
US$000

Share
premium
US$000

Total
US$000

3.024.658

3.025

-

3.025

6.671.957
__________
9.696.615
==========

6.672
__________
9.697
==========

__________
==========

6.672
__________
9.697
==========

3.692.859

3.693

-

3.693

(13.389.474)
__________
==========

(13.390)
__________
==========

__________
==========

(13.390)
__________
==========

In 2014, US$50 million fully paid Preference Shares of par value US$1.00 each were issued by the Company to
EBRD under the EBRD facility. The availability period of the EBRD facility ended in June 2015.
Dividends on the EBRD Preference Shares accrued semi-annually at the annual rate of 12% until 30 June 2017;
such dividends were payable in priority to any declaration or payment of dividend on ordinary shares. Unpaid
cumulative dividends on the Preference Shares were deferred and capitalised through the issuance of
redeemable deferral shares (the “Deferral Shares”, and together with the Preference Shares, the “Preferred
Securities”) which accrued dividends at 14.5% p.a., payable in priority to any dividend on Preference Shares or
ordinary shares (and which were similarly deferred and capitalised).
The cumulative dividend of US$3.693 thousand, declared on 30 June 2016, in respect of outstanding
Preference Shares and Deferral Shares, was deferred and capitalised through an issuance of 3,692,859 Deferral
Shares. The cumulative dividends of US$6.672 thousand for the year 2015, in respect of outstanding Preference
Shares and Deferral Shares, were deferred and capitalised through an issuance of 6,671,957 Deferral Shares.
The EBRD elected to convert all of the Preferred Securities into ordinary shares, representing 13.27% of the
outstanding ordinary shares post-conversion (the “Voluntary Conversion”). As a result of the Voluntary
Conversion, on 30 December 2016 all of the Company’s Preference Shares (50,000,000 of par value US$1.00)
and Deferral Shares (13,389,474 of par value US$1.00) were converted into 33,677,205 ordinary shares of par
value US$1.00. As a result of the conversion, share premium in the amount of ca. US$29.713 thousand was
recorded in equity.
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Share capital, share premium and treasury shares (continued)

Redeemable Deferral shares (continued)
Transaction costs associated with the Voluntary Conversion include; (i) transaction costs which were directly
attributable to the issue of convertible Preference shares (US$2.722 thousand) reclassified now to costs
associated with ordinary shares as a result of the EBRD’s Voluntary Conversion of the Preference shares into
ordinary shares, and (ii) certain costs in the amount of US$1.771 thousand reclassified from finance
restructuring project costs as these were deemed to be directly attributable to the EBRD’s Voluntary
Conversion of the Preference shares into ordinary shares (Note 16).
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Other reserves

Balance at 1 January 2015

Share-based
compensation
reserve
US$000

Hedging
reserve
US$000

Translation
reserve
US$000

Share swap
reserve
US$000

1.511

(158.556)

2.759

(57.428)

(211.714)

(414)

-

-

-

(414)

Total
US$000

Cash flow hedge (derivatives):
-Fair value losses on hedging reserve
-Transfers to the consolidated income
statement
Currency translation differences
Share-based payment (Note 11)
Balance at 31 December 2015/1 January 2016
Currency translation differences
Balance at 31 December 2016

(1.097)
19.569
_________ __________
(138.987)

(1.097)
19.569
257
257
__________ ___________ ___________
3.016
(57.428)
(193.399)

(51.129)
(51.129)
_________ __________ __________ ___________ ___________
(190.116)
3.016
(57.428)
(244.528)
========== ========== ========== =========== ===========

The translation, hedging and share-based compensation reserves are non-distributable.
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Borrowings

Non-current borrowings
Finance lease payables
Notes
Other borrowings (Note 27)

Current borrowings
Notes
Finance lease payables
Other borrowings (Note 27)
Bank borrowings

Total borrowings

Maturity of non-current borrowings
(excluding finance lease liabilities)
Later than 1 year and not later than 3 years

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

1.321
___________
1.321
___________

2.231
593.665
3.340
___________
599.236
___________

603.519
30.001
3.340
___________
636.860
___________
638.181
===========

6.500
1.235
5.074
54.562
___________
67.371
___________
666.607
===========

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

___________
===========

597.005
___________
597.005
===========

UniCredit syndicated loan
In 2014, the Group signed a syndicated loan facility for over RUB 8 billion with a group of international banks,
with UniCredit Bank AG as facility agent, and drew down part of the proceeds to refinance the VTB Leasing
finance lease obligations in the amount of approximately RUB 4 billion. The two-year loan facility bore interest
of three-month MosPrime plus 2.2 per cent margin in year one and 2.7 per cent margin in year two. The
facility, which was secured by way of a pledge on equipment (3.398 railcars), was fully repaid on 18 January
2016.
Sale and leaseback facilities
In December 2015, OOO Brunswick Rail, the Group’s principal Russian operating subsidiary, and Alfa-Leasing
LLC signed a term sheet for the provision of up to RUB 4 billion of financing pursuant to two new sale and
leaseback facilities (with respect to 3.398 and 2.700 railcars, respectively). As part of the above financing plan,
OOO Brunswick Rail signed the first agreement with Alfa-Leasing LLC for the provision of RUB 2.3 billion
(including VAT) of financing under a new sale and leaseback facility on 28 December 2015 and the transaction
was completed, followed by the drawdown, on 18 January 2016. On the same day, OOO Brunswick Rail used
the proceeds of this sale and leaseback facility, together with its own cash, to repay fully its existing syndicated
facility.
On 26 January 2016, OOO Brunswick Rail signed the agreement for the second sale and leaseback facility in the
amount of ca. RUB 1.6 billion (including VAT); the transaction was completed, followed by the drawdown, on
the same day. The second Alfa-Leasing tranche was intended to provide liquidity in the event of a further
market downturn.
No gain or loss was recognized as a result of these transactions.
Pursuant to the sale and leaseback transactions, OOO Brunswick Rail simultaneously leased back all railcars
sold. The leases have a term that ends in January 2018, and an interest rate of 16%, plus customary fees
charged over the life of the facility. OOO Brunswick Rail has an option to repurchase leased railcars at any time
during the lease term at a price determined in accordance with the finance lease agreement.

39

Brunswick Rail Limited and its subsidiary companies
23

Borrowings (continued)

Other borrowings – Shareholder loan
In December 2016 the Group signed an amendment agreement whereby Lavender Tankers Inc waived
permanently any default or event of default which may previously have arisen under the shareholder loan it
made to the Group (Note 27). Certain amendments to terms of the shareholder loan have also been made,
including the suspension of future interest payments and the removal of certain event of default provisions. On
30 December 2016, the Group repaid a principal amount of US$5.05 million together with all interest accrued
as of that date. The final repayment date is 31 December 2017.
VTB facility agreement
On 5 April 2016, OOO Brunswick Rail and PJSC VTB Bank signed a facility agreement for the provision of up to
RUB 20 billion towards funding the potential restructuring of the Group’s existing debt. The terms of the
secured facility contemplate a 6.5% per annum margin over the current Central Bank of Russia key rate and a
five-year maturity from the date on which the agreement enters into force. The facility would be guaranteed by
Brunswick Rail Finance Designated Activity Company (Ireland), OOO Proftrans, Brunswick Rail Holding Ltd
(Cyprus) and the Company, and secured by substantially all of the unencumbered assets of OOO Brunswick Rail
and OOO Proftrans. The initial availability period of 9 months was extended to 15 months in December 2016.
The VTB facility has not been utilised by the date of this report.
The carrying amounts and fair values of the total Group borrowings and finance lease liabilities as at
31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 were as follows:

Carrying amounts

Notes
Finance lease payables
Other borrowings
Bank borrowings

Fair values

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

603.519
31.322
3.340
__________
638.181
==========

600.165
3.466
8.414
54.562
__________
666.607
==========

355.962
31.322
3.123
__________
390.407
==========

273.084
3.466
8.441
55.506
__________
340.497
==========

The fair value of the Notes is based on the bond price on 31 December 2016 obtained from Bloomberg financial
data service. The Notes are denominated in USD. The fair values of bank and other borrowings with variable
cash flows are based on forecast for quarterly discounted cash flows using forward interest rates obtained from
the Group’s bankers for each quarterly repayment period. The carrying amounts of the Group's bank and other
borrowings are denominated in RUB and USD. The fair value of finance lease payables approximates the
carrying value at the balance sheet date.
As a result of the RUB appreciation against the USD during the year ended 31 December 2016, net foreign
exchange gains in the amount of US$123.867 thousand were recognized in the consolidated income statement,
mostly attributable to the USD-denominated borrowings (2015: US$173.990 thousand, net foreign exchange
losses).
As at 31 December 2016 the Group was in compliance with all covenants under the Notes and other credit
facilities.
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Borrowings (continued)

Finance lease liabilities

Gross payables for finance leases
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years

Future finance charges on finance leases
Net finance lease payables

Maturity of non-current liabilities from finance leases
Later than 1 year and not later than 3 years
Later than 3 years and not later than 5 years

24

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

32.938
1.682
__________
34.620
(3.298)
__________
31.322
==========

1.675
2.799
__________
4.474
(1.008)
__________
3.466
==========

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

807
514
__________
1.321
==========

1.440
791
___________
2.231
===========

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

5.329
1.972
__________
7.301
==========

4.912
1.404
__________
6.316
==========

Trade and other payables

Trade payables and accrued expenses
Advances from customers

The fair value of trade payables and accrued expenses which are due within one year approximates their
carrying amount at the balance sheet date.
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Contingencies, commitments and operating risks

Compliance with local regulations
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, all of the Group’s Russian subsidiaries are in compliance with local
regulations.
Russian legislation specifies that capital repairs on railcars should be performed every 4-18 years depending on
the type of railcar. The types of railcars owned by the Group have a capital repair term of
6-17 years. Depot repairs as indicated in the Russian legislation should be performed for new railcars after
2-4 years and then every 1-2 years depending on the type of the railcar.
Operating environment of the Russian Federation
Emerging markets such as Russia are subject to different risks than more developed markets, including
economic, political and social, and legal and legislative risks. Laws and regulations affecting businesses in Russia
continue to change rapidly, tax and regulatory frameworks are subject to varying interpretations. The future
economic direction of Russia is heavily influenced by the fiscal and monetary policies adopted by the
government, together with developments in the legal, regulatory, and political environment.
Because Russia produces and exports large volumes of oil and gas, its economy is particularly sensitive to the
price of oil and gas in the world market. During 2014 and 2015, the oil price decreased significantly, which led
to a substantial decrease in the Russian Ruble exchange rate against US dollars.
Starting from 2014, sanctions have been imposed in several packages by the U.S. and the E.U. (among others)
on certain Russian officials, businessmen and companies.
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Contingencies, commitments and operating risks (continued)

Operating environment of the Russian Federation (continued)
In the first quarter of 2015, two international credit agencies downgraded Russia’s long-term foreign currency
sovereign rating to the speculative level with the negative outlook. The outlook on Russia’s long-term foreign
currency sovereign rating has since been changed to ‘stable’.
The above mentioned events have led to reduced access of Russian businesses to international capital markets,
increased inflation, economic recession and other negative economic consequences. The impact of further
economic developments on future operations and the financial position of the Group is at this stage difficult to
determine.
Tax legislation
Laws and regulations affecting business in the Russian Federation continue to change rapidly. Management’s
interpretation of such legislation as applied to the activity of the Group may be challenged by the relevant
regional and federal authorities. Recent events suggest that the tax authorities are taking a more assertive
position in their interpretation of the legislation and assessments and as a result, it is possible that transactions
and activities that have not been challenged in the past may be challenged. Fiscal periods generally remain
open to tax audit by the authorities in respect of taxes for three calendar years preceding the year of the tax
audit. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods.
Management believes that it has accrued for all taxes that are applicable. Where uncertainty exists, the Group
has accrued tax liabilities as Management’s best estimate of the probable outflow of resources which will be
required to settle such liabilities. Management believes that it has provided adequately for tax liabilities based
on its interpretations of tax legislation. However, the relevant authorities may have differing interpretations,
and the effects on the consolidated financial statements could be significant.
Russian transfer pricing legislation was amended starting from 1 January 2012 to introduce additional reporting
and documentation requirements. The legislation allows the tax authorities to impose additional tax liabilities
in respect of certain transactions, including but not limited to transactions with related parties, if they consider
a transaction to not be priced at arm's length. As the practice of implementation of the new transfer pricing
rules has not yet developed and wording of some clauses may have more than one interpretation, the impact
of the challenge of the Group's transfer pricing positions by the tax authorities cannot be reliably estimated.
Any prior existing Russian court decisions may provide guidance, but are not legally binding for decisions by
other, or higher level, Russian courts in the future.
Management believes that its pricing policy is arm's length and it has implemented internal controls to be in
compliance with the new transfer pricing legislation.
Given that the practice of implementation of the new Russian transfer pricing rules has not yet developed,
the impact of any challenge of the Group’s transfer prices cannot be reliably estimated.
Tax liabilities arising from transactions between companies are determined using actual transaction prices. It is
possible, with the evolution of the interpretation of the transfer pricing rules, that such transfer prices could be
challenged. The impact of any such challenge cannot be reliably estimated; however, it may be significant to
the financial position and/or the overall operations of the Group.
The Group includes companies incorporated outside of Russia. The tax liabilities of the Group are determined
on the assumption that these companies are not subject to Russian profits tax, because they do not have
a permanent establishment in Russia. This interpretation of relevant legislation may be challenged but the
impact of any such challenge cannot be reliably estimated currently; however, it may be significant to the
financial position and/or the overall operations of the Group.
As Russian tax legislation does not provide definitive guidance in certain areas, the Group adopts, from time to
time, interpretations of such uncertain areas that reduce the overall tax rate of the Group. While Group
Management currently estimates that the tax positions and interpretations that it has taken can reasonably be
sustained, there is a possible risk that an outflow of resources will be required should such tax positions and
interpretations be challenged by the relevant authorities. The impact of any such challenge cannot be reliably
estimated; however, it may be significant to the financial position and/or the overall operations of the Group.
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Contingencies, commitments and operating risks (continued)

Tax legislation (continued)
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, it was estimated by Group Management that none of the Group’s
subsidiaries had possible tax obligations arising from exposure other than remote tax risks.
Environmental matters
The enforcement of environmental regulation in the Russian Federation is evolving and the enforcement
posture of government authorities is continually being reconsidered. The Group periodically evaluates its
obligations under environmental regulations and shareholder agreements. Once obligations are determined,
they are recognized immediately. Potential liabilities, which might arise as a result of changes in existing
regulations, civil litigation or legislation, cannot be estimated but could be material. In the current enforcement
climate under existing legislation, Group Management believes that there are no significant liabilities for
environmental matters.
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Operating lease commitments

(a)

Operating lease arrangements
The Group leases out all railcars under operating lease arrangements for a period of 1 – 6 years.
The future aggregate minimum rent receivable under non-cancelable operating leases is as follows:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

5.011
1.585
___________
6.596
===========

14.389
6.212
___________
20.601
===========

The future aggregate total rent receivable under cancelable operating leases, excluding fines for early
termination, is as follows:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

(b)

2016
US$000

2015
US$000

87.215
71.453
92
___________
158.760
===========

68.920
110.396
6.622
___________
185.938
===========

Rent of premises
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases for the rent of premises
are as follows:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years
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2016
US$000

2015
US$000

582
2
___________
584
===========

1.004
496
___________
1.500
===========
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Related party transactions

There is no single ultimate controlling party which exercises control over the affairs of the Group.
On 13 November 2016 the Company announced a number of changes to its Board with immediate effect. Mr
Charlie Ryan, Mr Nicolas Pascault and Mr Marlen Manasov were appointed on the Board. Mr Paul J Ostling and
Mr Anders Lidefelt resigned on the same day. Mr Paul J Ostling also resigned from his role as CEO of the
Company and General Director of OOO Brunswick Rail. Finally, the Board appointed Mr Nicolas Pascault as CEO
of the Company and Mr Victor Koshkin as General Director of OOO Brunswick Rail.
Transactions with related parties are as follows:
Key management compensation

Salaries and other benefits
Directors fees and expenses (Note 9)
Bonuses
Share-based payment (Note 11)

Year ended
Year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
US$000
US$000
2.918
3.561
897
1.187
760
457
263
_________
_________
4.575
5.468
=========
=========

The parties mentioned below are able to exercise significant influence over the Group ¹.
Shareholder loan ¹
6 May 2016 31 December 2015
US$000
US$000
Balance at beginning of period/year
Principal repayment
Interest charged
Interest paid
Currency translation differences
Balance at end of period/year

Current portion
Non-current portion
Total shareholder loan

8.414
14.740
(6.350)
189
569
(138)
(535)
5
(10)
_________
_________
8.470
8.414
=========
=========
6 May 2016 31 December 2015
US$000
US$000
5.130
3.340
___________
8.470
===========

5.074
3.340
___________
8.414
===========

¹ Lavender Tankers Inc. is an affiliate of the Group's shareholder – Sumitomo Corporation which ceased to be a related party on 6 May 2016
as it had ceased to have representation on the Board.

Recourse loan granted to former management
The Group has outstanding receivables from former management in relation to the recourse loan agreement in
the amount of US$1.692 thousand (2015: US$1.601 thousand). The Group commenced arbitration proceedings
in respect of this loan. Due to the arbitration process, Management deemed it prudent to recognise a
provision.
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Related party transactions (continued)

Mezzanine credit facility
In 2011, MRIF Luxembourg Investments 2 Sarl and MRIF Bermuda Investments 4 Limited (together “MRIF”)
made a US$60 million mezzanine facility available to the Group. The facility bears interest at a rate of 15 per
cent per annum and is repayable on 2 December 2020. Based on the terms of the agreement, MRIF had the
right to give notice to implement a debt for equity conversion within 5 years from the date of the agreement.
MRIF did not exercise their conversion option which expired in 2015.
The mezzanine transactions and balances are as follows:

Balance at beginning of year
Interest accrued
Unamortised borrowing costs under the effective interest method
Currency translation differences
Balance at end of year

2016
US$000
86.768
13.422
34
125
___________
100.349
===========

2015
US$000
75.026
11.924
5
(187)
___________
86.768
===========

The fair value of the mezzanine credit facility approximates the carrying amount of the instrument at the
balance sheet date.
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Events after the balance sheet date

In February 2017, the Company was informed by representatives of Amalgam Rail Investment, Ltd.
(“Amalgam”), that Amalgam had received acceptances from the shareholders of the Company holding more
than 50% of the Company’s ordinary shares in respect of the offer made by Amalgam on 31 December 2016 for
all of the Company’s ordinary shares (the “Offer”). The Company understands that Amalgam intends to utilize
the compulsory acquisition provisions of the Company’s shareholders agreement, dated 25 March 2014 (as
amended from time to time), to acquire 100% of the Company’s ordinary shares subject to the satisfaction or
waiver of all other conditions to the Offer.
On 10 March 2017 the Company has learned that the Federal Anti-monopoly Service of the Russian Federation
("FAS") has rejected the application for clearance made to it by Amalgam in respect of its offer. Such clearance
is a condition to the Offer. The implications of the FAS decision on the transaction are uncertain. The Company
understands that Amalgam rejects the basis for the FAS decision and plans to appeal that decision.
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Direct and indirect interests in subsidiaries

For the purposes of the consolidation, the following legal entities are the subsidiaries and sub-subsidiaries of the
Company and the table represents the ultimate per cent ownership of the Company of each entity’s share capital:
Name
Brunswick Rail Group Limited
Brunswick Rail Fin Limited

Country of
incorporation
Bermuda
Cyprus

Brunswick Rail Group (Cyprus) Limited

Cyprus

OOO Proftrans
OOO ProfExpo Trans

Russia
Russia

OOO Brunswick Rail Management

Russia

Brunswick Rail Finance Designated Activity Ireland
Company (formerly Brunswick Rail Finance
Limited) (1)
OOO Brunswick Rail
Russia
Brunswick Rail Holding (Cyprus) Limited
Cyprus

(1)

Principal activities
Holding of investments
Provision of financing to
Group companies
Holding of trademarks and Russian
subsidiary
Shipment of iron scrap and other freights
Shipment of iron scrap and other
freights on export
Provision of management services
to Group companies
Provision of financing to
Group companies
Leasing of railcars to third parties
Holding of Russian subsidiaries

2016
100%

2015
100%

100%

100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%

The Companies Act, 2014 (the “Act”) came into effect in Ireland on 1st June 2015. Under the Act, existing private companies
limited by shares were replaced with one of two new company types, the designated activity company (“DAC”) and the new model private
company limited by shares (“LTD”). On 28 July 2016 pursuant to the Act, the Company converted to a DAC and changed its name to
Brunswick Rail Finance Designated Activity Company.
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Non-IFRS measures (unaudited)

The table below represents a reconciliation of the audited IFRS profit or loss for the years ended 31 December
2016 and 2015 to adjusted EBITDA, which is not defined by IFRS, and used by Management for decision-making
purposes as part of the analysis of the Group’s results:
Year ended
Year ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
US$000
US$000
Profit/(loss) for the year
plus/(minus):
Income tax expense /(credit)
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses
Revaluation gains of embedded derivatives on mezzanine
Finance income
Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation
(Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment losses on railcars
Expenses related to finance restructuring
Share-based compensation
Provision for bad debts on recourse loan receivable from former CEO
Professional services associated with forensic review, sanctions related matters
and litigation processes
Adjusted EBITDA

46

124.346

(299.174)

31.549
(123.867)
(4.503)
65.737
21.013
(44.711)
10.273
1.650

(59.101)
173.990
(300)
(5.714)
68.644
35.521
165.043
263
-

511
__________
81.998
==========

1.260
__________
80.432
==========

